FILED 8/30/2017 2:50 PM Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

Supreme Court No. (to be set) Court of Appeals No. 33595-0-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, vs.

Luis Anguiano

Appellant/Petitioner

Yakima County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-00150-4 The Honorable Judge Michael G. McCarthy **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

> Manek R. Mistry Jodi R. Backlund Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When he was a teenager, Luis Anguiano began using marijuana to deal with the loss of his mother. RP (6/2/15) 840-842. In January of 2014, he along with three acquaintances drove to buy pot from Charles Burky-bile. RP (6/1/15) 649-651, 670; RP (6/2/15) 840, 844-845.

Burkybile's house was on the property of a duck-hunting club in rural Yakima County. RP (5/27/15) 270, 300-301; RP (6/2/15) 835. Mr. Anguiano had never seen anyone else at the house and did not know that Burkybile lived with others. RP (6/2/15) 872.

Burkybile told the group to leave and said he would not sell from his home. RP (5/27/15) 278; RP (6/2/15) 850-851.² What happened next is in dispute. Mr. Anguiano maintained that he and his companions fired toward the house after Burkybile retrieved a rifle and began shooting at

¹ A copy of the opinion is attached.

 $^{^{2}}$ According to his wife, who was inside the house, he referred to them as "a bunch of Mexican gangsters." RP (5/27/15) 278.

them. RP (5/27/15) 279, 295-296; RP (6/2/15) 844-857, 875. The driver of the car (who later pled guilty to reduced charges and testified for the State) claimed that Mr. Anguiano and his companions drew their weapons and shot first. RP (6/1/15) 659-662, 678. Burkybile died from gunshot wounds. RP (5/27/15) 281, 312-314.

The State charged Mr. Anguiano with first-degree murder (by alternate means of felony murder and extreme indifference) and first-degree assault against Burkybile's wife (under a theory of transferred intent).³ CP 122-126. To each charge, the State added three firearm enhancements, one for each of the three firearms used by the group in the car. CP 122-126.

Over defense objection, the prosecution suggested to jurors that Mr. Anguiano had participated in a prior burglary at the house. RP (4/20/15) 18-19; RP (5/27/15) 251-253, 273. Police had found items in Mr. Anguiano's possession that had allegedly been taken during the prior burglary; however, nothing suggested he'd personally participated in the crime. RP (6/1/15) 642-643, 698-706.

The court did not find by a preponderance the prior burglary had occurred, did not find Mr. Anguiano was involved, did not find the proffered evidence relevant to any element of the charged crimes, and did not weigh probative value against any potential for prejudice. RP (5/27/15) 254. Instead, the court indicated only that the evidence went to "motivation." RP (5/27/15) 254. In closing arguments, the State referred to the

³ Mr. Anguiano was also charged with and convicted of additional offenses, which have since been dismissed by the trial court on double jeopardy grounds. CP 325-327, 357-358.

prior burglary multiple times. RP (6/3/15) 944-945, 948-949, 960, 961, 997-998.

The jury found Mr. Anguiano guilty of both charges⁴ and the associated firearm enhancements. CP 295, 297-300, 305, 307-310. By special verdict, jurors found both felony murder and murder by extreme indifference. CP 300. At sentencing, the court imposed a total of 830 months, which included 30 years for the six consecutive firearm enhancements. CP 328-329; CP 357. Mr. Anguiano sought review, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. CP 335; Opinion.

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

I. THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW TO DETERMINE THE UNIT OF PROSECUTION FOR FIREARM ENHANCEMENTS.

No Washington court has addressed the double jeopardy issue raised by adding multiple firearm enhancements to a single offense. Because the unit of prosecution is one firearm enhancement per offense, regardless of the number of firearms involved, Mr. Anguiano's sentence must be reversed.

A. The unit of prosecution is one firearm enhancement per offense, regardless of the number of firearms carried.

Where multiple penalties are imposed for violation of a single statute, double jeopardy⁵ requires a reviewing court to determine the "unit of prosecution." *State v. Villanueva-Gonzalez*, 180 Wn.2d 975, 980-81, 329 P.3d 78 (2014); *State v. Adel*, 136 Wn.2d 629, 634, 965 P.2d 1072 (1998).

⁴ Additional convictions have since been vacated. CP 325-327, 357-358.

⁵ U.S. Const. Amends. V, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 9.

The inquiry turns on legislative intent, as expressed in the statute's plain language. *State v. Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d 870, 878, 204 P.3d 916 (2009). Courts apply the rule of lenity to any ambiguity in the unit of prosecution. *Id.* This avoids turning a single transaction into multiple offenses. *Id.* at 878-879 (citing *Adel*, 136 Wn.2d at 634-35); *see also State v. Jensen*, 164 Wn.2d 943, 949, 195 P.3d 512 (2008).

The firearm enhancement statute does not specify the unit of prosecution.⁶ Instead, one provision refers to the "underlying offense" (singular) that is "subject to a firearm enhancement" (singular), suggesting that only one firearm enhancement can attach to each offense. RCW 9.94A.533 (3). Another provision refers to "firearm enhancements" (plural) applying to "the completed felony crime" (singular), implying that multiple enhancements could attach to a single offense. RCW 9.94A.533(3).

Nowhere does the statute require additional time for "each firearm" or otherwise clearly indicate how to treat offenses committed by offenders armed with multiple guns. RCW 9.94A.533(3). Although it refers to "firearm enhancements" (plural), it does not refer to "firearms" (plural). RCW 9.94A.533(3).

⁶ Under the statute, additional time "shall be added to the standard sentence range... if the offender or an accomplice was armed with a firearm." RCW 9.94A.533(3). The "firearm enhancement or enhancements must be added to the total period of confinement for all offenses, regardless of which underlying offense is subject to a firearm enhancement." RCW 9.94A.533(3). In addition, "[n]otwithstanding any other provision of law, all firearm enhancements are mandatory, shall be served in total confinement, and shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions, including other firearm or deadly weapon enhancements, for all offenses sentenced under this chapter." RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e).

Because the statute does not clearly set forth the unit of prosecution, it is ambiguous. The rule of lenity requires an interpretation that favors the accused person and avoids turning a single transaction into multiple offenses. *Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d at 878-879; *Adel*, 136 Wn.2d at 634-35); *Jensen*, 164 Wn.2d at 949. Thus, a person armed with multiple firearms may receive only one firearm enhancement for each enhancementeligible offense. *See Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d at 878-879.

Mr. Anguiano should have received two firearm enhancements one for each conviction. The imposition of six consecutive firearm enhancements violated his state and federal double jeopardy rights. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 9; *Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d at 878-879. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the unit of prosecution is one firearm enhancement per conviction, regardless of the number of firearms carried. The court should vacate four of Mr. Anguiano's firearm enhancements and remand for resentencing. This case presents a significant constitutional issue that is of substantial public interest and should be decided by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

B. The Court of Appeals erroneously applied this court's *dicta* in *De*-*Santiago* as "binding authority."

The SRA contains separate provisions for firearm enhancements and deadly weapon enhancements. RCW 9.94A.533(3) and (4). A firearm enhancement may be combined with a deadly weapon enhancement when the State alleges and proves the offender was armed with both a firearm and a knife. *State v. DeSantiago*, 149 Wn.2d 402, 407, 410, 68 P.3d 1065 (2003) (addressing former RCW 9.94A.510 (1999)).

DeSantiago did not involve multiple firearms. *DeSantiago*, 149 Wn.2d at 407, 410. The jury found the defendants in that case were armed with one firearm and one knife. *Id*. The issue presented was "Do both the firearm enhancement and the deadly weapon enhancement apply to a single offense committed with two weapons?" *Id.*, at 410.

The court in that case was not asked to determine whether a court may impose multiple firearm enhancements when an offender is armed with more than one firearm. *Id.* Despite this, the *DeSantiago* majority opined that "a sentencing judge [must] impose an enhancement *for each firearm* or other deadly weapon that a jury finds was carried during an offense." *Id.* at 421 (emphasis added).

The *DeSantiago* court's suggestion that multiple firearms could lead to multiple enhancements is unnecessary to its decision. It is therefore *dicta. See State v. Chenoweth*, 185 Wn.2d 218, 233, 370 P.3d 6 (2016) (Madsen, C.J., dissenting) (defining dicta as comments unnecessary to the outcome of the case.) Further, this *dicta* rests on a precarious foundation.

The parties' failure to brief a double jeopardy argument results in the first part of the precarious basis. *DeSantiago*, 149 Wn.2d at 420. In the absence of briefing, the court did not recognize the statute's ambiguity, and did not apply the rule of lenity, as required in unit of prosecution cases. *Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d at 878-879.

The second precarious foundation facet is that the court relied on persuasive authority that "did not analyze the statutory scheme at issue." DeSantiago, 149 Wn.2d at 419.⁷ In fact, the only cited authority that addressed a firearm enhancement reached the opposite result from the De-Santiago majority's dicta. Id., at 419 (citing People v. Haggart, 142 Mich. App. 330, 370 N.W.2d 345 (1985)).⁸ The *Haggart* court applied the rule of lenity to an ambiguous firearm enhancement statute. It held that the statute allowed only one enhancement per transaction, regardless of the number of firearms carried. Haggart, 142 Mich. App. at 348. Likewise, federal courts generally allow only one enhancement per underlying crime for the corresponding federal enhancement provision (18 U.S.C. § 924(c)), regardless of the number of firearms involved in a crime.⁹ See, e.g., United States v. Cappas, 29 F.3d 1187 (7th Cir. 1994); United States v. Johnson, 25 F.3d 1335 (6th Cir. 1994); United States v. Lindsay, 985 F.2d 666, 674 (2d Cir. 1993); United States v. Martinez, 7 F.3d 146, 148 (9th Cir. 1993), as amended (Nov. 9, 1993); United States v. Correa-Ventura, 6 F.3d 1070

⁷ The persuasive authority examined by the court interpreted the phrase "a firearm," which the court characterized as "identical statutory language." *Id.*, at 419.

⁸ The other three cases dealt with substantive weapons crimes, not firearm enhancements. *Id.*, at 419 (citing *United States v. Alverson*, 666 F.2d 341 (9th Cir.1982) (allowing a separate conviction for each unregistered machine gun possessed); *Grappin v. State*, 450 So.2d 480 (Fla.1984) (allowing a separate conviction for each firearm unlawfully taken), and *State v. Nichols*, 865 S.W.2d 435 (Mo.App.1993) (allowing a separate conviction for each concealed weapon unlawfully carried).

⁹ It does not appear that other state courts have addressed the issue. However, at least one state prohibits multiple convictions where an offender steals multiple firearm or possesses multiple stolen firearms. *State v. Surrett*, 217 N.C. App. 89, 99, 719 S.E.2d 120 (2011); *State v. Boykin*, 78 N.C. App. 572, 575, 337 S.E.2d 678 (1985).

(5th Cir. 1993); *United States v. Moore*, 958 F.2d 310 (10th Cir. 1992); *United States v. Hamilton*, 953 F.2d 1344, 1346 (11th Cir. 1992).¹⁰

Third, the *DeSantiago* court erroneously reasoned that imposing an enhancement for each firearm "would not absurdly extend sentences" because the statutory maximum provides a cap on the total sentence. *De-Santiago*, 149 Wn.2d at 421. In fact, as this case illustrates, the "suggested absurdity" is NOT "dissolved by a plain reading of the statute" when the statutory maximum is life in prison. *Id.* The trial court here imposed 30 years in firearm enhancements—more than it imposed for either the murder of Burkybile or the assault on his wife.¹¹ CP 328.

For all these reasons, the *dicta* in *DeSantiago* should not control here. Mr. Anguiano was eligible for two firearm enhancements—one for each underlying offense. The court should have imposed 120 months in enhancements (5 years for each offense), rather than the 30 years it added to Mr. Anguiano's sentence. The excess enhancements must be vacated and the case remanded for sentencing. The Supreme Court should accept review and clarify that only one firearm enhancement may be imposed for each conviction committed while armed. This case presents a significant

¹⁰ The Eighth Circuit has taken a slightly different approach, allowing one "conviction" for each firearm possessed, but prohibiting multiple punishments. *See United States v. Freisinger*, 937 F.2d 383 (8th Cir. 1991). However, the Eighth Circuit also requires the government to prove that the defendant had a separate use for each gun. *United States v. Canterbury*, 2 F.3d 305, 306 (8th Cir. 1993). The Eighth Circuit's approach has been criticized by other federal courts of appeal. *See, e.g., Lindsay*, 985 F.2d at 674-675.

¹¹ The 30-year enhancement was also just 14 months less than the combined total for the two consecutive base sentences for murder and assault. CP 328.

constitutional issue that is of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

II. THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW AND DETERMINE IF THE ADMISSION OF PRIOR "BAD ACT" EVIDENCE CAN VIOLATE DUE PROCESS.

Over defense objection, the State introduced evidence connecting Mr. Anguiano to property previously stolen from the gun club residence and argued that he'd participated in the prior burglary. This undermined Mr. Anguiano's self-defense claim and bolstered the State's theory. The trial judge failed to instruct jurors to consider the evidence only for a limited purpose.¹² Besides violating ER 403 and ER 404 (b), the error infringed Mr. Anguiano's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process, by permitting jurors to convict based on an improper propensity inference. A. The Supreme Court should clarify that discretionary decisions violating constitutional rights are reviewed *de novo*. Appellate courts review constitutional issues *de novo*. *Lenander v*.

Washington State Dep't of Ret. Sys., 186 Wn.2d 393, 403, 377 P.3d 199

(2016); State v. Samalia, 186 Wn.2d 262, 269, 375 P.3d 1082 (2016).

However, the Supreme Court has issued conflicting opinions on the proper

standard of review of discretionary decisions violating an accused per-

son's constitutional rights. The better approach is to review *de novo* a trial

court's discretionary decisions that infringe constitutional rights.

The Supreme Court has applied the *de novo* standard to discretionary decisions that would otherwise be reviewed for abuse of discretion.

¹² Although defense counsel objected to the admission of the evidence, he did not request a limiting instruction. RP (5/26/15) 252-254.

State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 719, 230 P.3d 576, 579 (2010); *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 281, 217 P.3d 768 (2009). In *Jones*, for example, the court reviewed *de novo* a discretionary decision excluding evidence under the rape shield statute because the defendant argued a violation of his constitutional right to present a defense. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 719.¹³ Similarly, the *Iniguez* court reviewed *de novo* the trial judge's discretionary decisions denying a severance motion and granting a continuance, because the defendant argued a violation of his constitutional right to a speedy trial. *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 280-281. The *Iniguez* court specifically pointed out that review would have been for abuse of discretion had the defendant not argued a constitutional violation. *Id*.

However, the court has not applied this rule consistently. For example, one month prior to its decision in *Jones*, the court apparently applied an abuse-of-discretion standard to questions of admissibility under the rape shield law, even though—as in *Jones*— the defendant alleged a violation of his right to present a defense. *State v. Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d 350, 362-63, 229 P.3d 669 (2010).

This inconsistency should not be taken as a repudiation of *Jones* and *Iniguez*. Cases applying the abuse-of-discretion standard have not grappled with the rationale supporting the *Jones* and *Iniguez* decisions. *See, e.g., State v. Dye,* 178 Wn.2d 541, 309 P.3d 1192 (2013); *State v. Clark,* 187 Wn.2d 641, 648–49, 389 P.3d 462 (2017).

¹³ Generally, the exclusion of evidence under that statute is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Posey*, 161 Wn.2d 638, 648, 167 P.3d 560 (2007).

For example, in *Dye*, the court indicated that "[a]lleging that a ruling violated the defendant's right to a fair trial does not change the standard of review." *Id.*, at 548. However, the *Dye* court did not cite *Iniguez* or *Jones. Id.*, at 548. Nor did it address the rationale underlying application of the *de novo* standard for constitutional violations. Furthermore, the petitioners in *Dye* did not ask the court to apply a *de novo* standard. *See* Petition for Review¹⁴ and Supplemental Brief.¹⁵ As the *Dye* court noted, the petitioner "present[ed] no reason for us to depart from [an abuse-of-discretion standard]." *Id.*¹⁶ There is no indication that the *Dye* court intended to overrule *Iniguez* and *Jones. Id.*

In *Clark*, the court announced it would "review the trial court's evidentiary rulings for abuse of discretion and defer to those rulings unless no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court." *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Upon finding that the lower court had excluded "relevant defense evidence," the reviewing court would then "determine as a matter of law whether the exclusion violated the constitutional right to present a defense." *Id.*

Although the Clark court cited Jones, it did not suggest that Jones

¹⁴ Available at

http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A08/879290%20prv.pdf (last accessed 7/11/17).

¹⁵ Available at

http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A08/879290%20petitioner's%20supplemental%20 brief.pdf (last accessed 7/11/17).

¹⁶ By contrast, the Respondent did argue for application of an abuse-of-discretion standard. See Dye, Respondent's Supplemental Brief, pp 8-9, 17-18, available at <u>http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A08/879290%20respondent's%20supplemental%2</u> <u>Obrief.pdf</u> (last accessed 7/11/17).

was incorrect, harmful, or problematic, and did not overrule it. *See, e.g., State v. Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d 333, 340 n. 2, 394 P.3d 373 (2017) ("For this court to reject our previous holdings, the party seeking that rejection must show that the established rule is incorrect and harmful or a prior decision is so problematic that we must reject it.")

The *Clark* court did not even acknowledge its deviation from the standard applied by the *Jones* court. *Id.* Nor does the *Clark* opinion mention *Iniguez*. Furthermore, as in *Dye*, the Respondent in *Clark* argued for the abuse-of-discretion standard, and Petitioner did not ask the court to apply a different standard. *See* Respondent's Supplemental Brief, p. 16;¹⁷ Petitioner's Supplemental Brief.¹⁸

Constitutional errors should be reviewed *de novo. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 719; *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 281. This rule encompasses discretionary decisions that violate constitutional rights. Review of constitutional violations for abuse of discretion puts the constitutional rights of an accused person in the hands of the individual judge presiding over that person's trial.

Furthermore, the standard set forth in *Clark* makes the *de novo* standard meaningless: an abuse of discretion resulting in the exclusion of relevant and admissible defense evidence will always violate the right to present a defense. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 719; *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 281.

¹⁷ Available at <u>http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A08/92021-</u> 4%20Supp%20Brief%20-%20Resp.pdf (last accessed 2/10/17).

¹⁸ Available at <u>http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A08/92021-</u> 4%20Supp%20Brief%20-%20Pet'r.pdf (last accessed 2/10/17).

Such cases will turn on harmless error analysis, not on *de novo* review of the error's constitutional import.

The Supreme Court should accept review and adhere to the *de novo* standard as applied in *Iniguez* and *Jones*. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 719; *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 281. This case raises constitutional issues that are of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

B. The Supreme Court should reverse because jurors may have voted to convict Mr. Anguiano based on propensity evidence.

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