FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/29/2017 10:15 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 94953-1

THE SUPREME COURT OF OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

LUIS ALBERTO ANGUIANO, Appellant/Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY YAKIMA COUNTY

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 4846 Spokane, WA 99220

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2nd St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

TA	BL	E OF AUTHORITIES ii-iii
A.	IN'	TRODUCTION
	ISS	SUES PRESENTED BY PETITION

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

ARGUMENT

1. There is absolutely no basis or reason for this court to accept review of this allegation. The ruling in State v. DeSantiago, 149
Wn.2d 402, 68 P.3d 1065 (2003) is not dicta and therefore the Court of Appeals reliance on this court ruling in that case need not be reviewed.

Anguiano alleges that this issue has not been properly addressed by this court. He declares that this court's ruling in *DeSantiago* is "dicta" and therefore, the Court of Appeals wrongly used the ruling in DeSantiago as a bases to uphold the numerous firearm enhancements found by the jury and imposed by the trial court.

This claim is unfounded.

This court cited <u>DeSantiago</u> in <u>State v. Graham</u>, 153 Wn.2d 400, 406, 103 P.3d 1238 (2005) stating; "In <u>State v. DeSantiago</u>, 149 Wn.2d 402, 68 P.3d 1065 (2003), we applied the *Westling* analysis to the use of "a," rather than "any," in weapon enhancement statutes to support our holding that the plain language of the statutes required a sentence enhancement for each weapon carried during offense. Id. at 419, 68 P.3d 1065."

In <u>State v. Jacobs</u>, 154 Wn.2d 596, 602, 115 P.3d 281 (2005) this court stated "The Court of Appeals quoted <u>State v. DeSantiago</u>, 149 Wash.2d 402, 418, 68 P.3d 1065 (2003), for our holding that all firearm

and deadly weapon enhancements are mandatory and must be served consecutively. Jacobs, 121 Wn.App. at 683, 89 P.3d 232."

State v. Ose, 156 Wn.2d 140, 147, 124 P.3d 635 (2005),

"Likewise, in State v. DeSantiago, 149 Wn.2d 402, 68 P.3d 1065 (2003),
we interpreted RCW 9.94A.533(3) and (4), which allows sentence
enhancement if a defendant or an accomplice was armed with " 'a' firearm"
or " 'a' deadly weapon." Id. at 418, 68 P.3d 1065. We concluded that the
statute allows a defendant to "be punished for 'each' weapon involved." Id.
at 419, 68 P.3d 1065. See also State v. Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d 596, 115 P.3d
281 (Wash. 2005)

State v. Varnell, 162 Wn.2d 165, 174, 170 P.3d 24 (Wash. 2007) "Just as in Ose, the word "a" makes the unit of punishment each crime solicited. See also State v. Root, 141 Wash.2d 701, 710-11, 9 P.3d 214 (2000) ("a minor" makes the unit of prosecution each minor); State v. DeSantiago, 149 Wash.2d 402, 419, 68 P.3d 1065 (2003) ("a firearm" means the prosecution unit is each firearm)"

Finally, in a very recent case, <u>State v. Houston-Sconiers</u>, 188

Wn.2d 1, 25, 391 P.3d 409 (Wash. 2017) this court indicated that a trial court had the discretion to alter the mandatory nature of certain sentencing provisions, however the court stated in that opinion "We have also held that our firearm enhancement statutes require a sentencing court to impose

separate sentence enhancements consecutive to the substantive crime and to other enhancements for <u>each firearm</u> or deadly weapon used, but without referring to juveniles. <u>State v. DeSantiago</u>, 149 Wn.2d 402, 416, 420-21, 68 P.3d 1065 (2003)." (Emphasis added.)

The law is clear, the imposition of multiple enhancements for multiple weapons is what the legislature mandated. The trial court correctly sentenced Anguiano and the Court of Appeals correctly applied the rulings of this court set forth as black letter law, not dicta, in DeSantiago. There is on bases for review under RAP 13.4(b) (3) and (4) as claimed by Petition. This court should deny review.

2. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision regarding the admission of ER 404(b), prior bad act, information on two bases: ER 404(b) and harmless error.

Petitioner now asks this court to review this case and to reset an enormously broad area of appellate review. Stating that all cases of this nature should be reviewed "de novo" a change that would have enormous implications and allow a defendant to in effect have his second day in court merely by alleging that there were "discretionary decisions violating constitutional rights." (Petition at 9)

The is no basis under RAP 13.4(b) for this court to accept review.

Anguiano sets forth in his petition a section that alleges that this court has used a conflicting standard to review claims of this nature and this case would be appropriate for review because of that. He claims that this court should require de novo review for any allegation "of discretionary decisions violating an accused constitutional rights."

(Petition at 9). Such a test, a standard of review if implemented by this court would result in nearly any allegation raised by an appellant being reviewed de novo because, if Anguiano's argument is taken to its fullest, this standardized test would be based purely on those allegations raised by the defendant/appellant themselves. This would be an impossible burden on the courts and is completely unneeded.

Most importantly the Court of Appeals did as Anguiano demands, "Appellate courts "review the trial court's interpretation of ER 404(b) de novo as a matter of law." State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727,745,202 P.3d 937 (2009). Where the trial court correctly interprets the rule, its decision to admit evidence of misconduct is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Id. "A trial court abuses its discretion where it fails to abide by the rule's requirements." Id." (Slip at 9) There is no basis under RAP 13.4(b) for review of this case based on this alleged inconsistent standard of review.

The trial court admittedly did not make the type of record that would preclude review. However, as the Court of Appeals determined, there was sufficient evidence presented and a sufficient record to allow review of the record pursuant to "State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). Before a trial court can admit the evidence, it must "(1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is sought to be introduced,

(3) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged, and (4) weigh the probative value against the prejudicial effect." State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007) (quoting State v. Thang, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002))." (Slip at 8-9)

The Court of Appeals then addressed these criteria and found the trial court did not make explicit findings that the burglary occurred that the it was connected to him by a preponderance of the evidence. The first and second criterion set forth in <u>Graham</u>, supra.

However, citing State v. Norlin, 134 Wn.2d 570, 951 P.2d 1131 (1998) and State v. Stein, 140 Wn. App. 43, 66, 165 P.3d 16 (2007) the court found the facts which were presented to the trial court sufficient to excuse the failure to make explicit findings for this factor. "Here, we are not presented with evidence of items in Mr. Anguiano's possession so common that they would be found in the possession of many people. Ms. Hueso testified that the Girl Scout Cookies cannabis was a type she had purchased only from a small dispensary in Seattle. The items were sufficiently unusual that evidence Mr. Anguiano possessed them was circumstantial evidence connecting him to the prior burglary by a preponderance of the evidence." (Slip at 11)

The record is clear and the Court of Appeals so found that the State

did not introduce this information in an attempt to say that because this prior bad act occurred and that a preponderance of the evidence connected Anguiano to that act that therefore he was guilty of the current charge. The Court of Appeals correctly reviewed the record and determined that the "...State did not rely on the evidence of the earlier burglary to argue to the jury that Mr. Anguiano was a criminal type or a burglar-it relied on the evidence for the purpose identified to the court: to explain that Mr. Anguiano traveled with the others to the remote gun club not to buy marijuana, but because he was aware from the earlier burglary of drugs and cash likely to be found in the caretaker's home." (Slip at 12)

Regarding the fourth and final Graham factor the Court of Appeals also found that the trial court did not explicitly weigh the probative value versus the prejudicial effect of the proffered evidence. However, once again the de novo review allowed the Court of Appeals to determine that the record "is sufficient to permit meaningful review..." (Slip at 11) The opinion states "The evidence is highly probative. Absent some prior knowledge of the home, why would Mr. Anguiano have traveled so far, and enlisted others, to burglarize it? Absent evidence that Mr. Anguiano knew that there was ample marijuana and cash to be found in the Burkybile/Hueso home, Mr. Anguiano could easily have argued to jurors that a plan to travel all the way to Harrah to attempt a burglary or home

invasion robbery in broad daylight made no sense."

As important as the Court of Appeals analysis under Graham is the court's finding that even if there was error in the admission of this evidence that admission would have been harmless. Once again the State would strongly urge this court to review the facts of this case set forth in Appendix A.

The Court of Appeals concluded its review of this allegation stating; "We would also find any error to be harmless. There was overwhelming untainted evidence against Mr. Anguiano in the form of Ms. Hueso's and Mr. Hernandez's consistent testimony; the evidence of Mr. Anguiano's and his accomplices' flight; and the implausibility of his testimony that the shootout was prompted by his three frustrated kicks to the door, Mr. Burkybile's overreaction, and the regrettable coincidence that he, his brother, and Mr. Alvarez all brought handguns to the marijuana buy. We are satisfied that the result of the trial would have been the same had the trial court sustained Mr. Anguiano's ER 404(b) objection." (Slip at 13.)

Anguiano argues the State cannot show beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury did not convict based on the facts presented regarding the prior burglary at the victim's home, that argument is specious.

As the facts in Appendix set forth in great detail this case was not

one of minimal evidence. This case involved four men purposefully driving far out into the countryside of Yakima County to a home situated at the end of a long driveway. Three of the four came to this remote location armed with guns and the fourth person remained in the car, the proverbial "get-away" driver. When the deceased frustrated their efforts to gain entry they tried to first kick the door down and then they proceeded to literally shoot up this family's home with all of the occupants present.

The evidence of was overwhelming, any possible error was harmless, State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 775-76, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001) "The test for harmless error is whether the state has overcome the presumption of prejudice when a constitutional right of the defendant is violated when, from an examination of the record, it appears the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt or whether the evidence against the defendant is so overwhelming that no rational conclusion other than guilt can be reached." (Citations omitted.)

State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425-26, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985) "Under the "overwhelming untainted evidence" test, the appellate court; looks only at the untainted evidence to determine if the untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt."

3. The evidence was more than sufficient to support the jury's finding that Anguiano killed Mr. Burkybile with "extreme indifference."

RCW 9A.32.030(1)(b). The statute defines that that a person is guilty of murder in the first degree when "[u]nder circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life, he or she engages in conduct which creates a grave risk of death to any person, and thereby causes the death of a person."

In reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, this court will view the evidence in a light most favorable to the State to determine whether any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) (quoting <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)).

It of great importance that the defendant used the "girl scout cookie" herb jar in his case in chief arguing that the reason that he had this was because he had been to "Weed Man's" home before and Weed Man had sold him that jar. And, that was why they were there, that it was Weed Man's actions that escalated this entire situation to the point where Anguiano had to fire back in order to save himself. RP 844, 859-60.

The defendant's own testimony was sufficient to prove that this act was done with "extreme indifference." The is not means that he can claim to have been to "weed man's" home on numerous occasions and not know that there were other family members living there too.

State v. Adams, 138 Wn.App. 36, 50, 155 P.3d 989 (2007)

"Extreme indifference to human life may be proved by evidence of "an aggravated form of recklessness which falls below a specific intent to kill." This element may be proved where the defendant engages in extremely reckless conduct that creates a grave risk of death." (Citations omitted.)

This was an accomplice liability case, this was not the act of just one shooter, the defendant, it was the actions of three armed men who drove to a family home out in the country.

These three men discharged as many as two-dozen rounds of .40, .45 and 9 mm ammunition into a home that this defendant testified he had been to numerous times before. Clearly if he had been there as often as he testified Anguiano would have known that a family live in this home, not just Mr. Burkybile. RP 844, 859-60.

State v. Pastrana, 94 Wn.App. 463, 972 P.2d 557 (1999) addresses the allegation that these acts were not reckless it stated that "Anderson and Berge are distinguishable because in each only the life of the victim was endangered. But here, as in Pettus, the bullet created a grave risk of death to others who were in the vicinity."

The allegations by Petitioner throughout this appeal that because this home was out in a rural area does not negate extreme indifference of their crime. The testimony was the three shooters entered the car and they continued to shoot at the house and even continued until they were part way down the driveway. RP 661. Hernandez testified after the three entered the car Anguiano was still shooting his gun. RP 679, 687 and that after they had done the U-turn in the field and came from behind a tractor Anguiano started shooting again, "[h]e was the only one still shooting...it was the only handgun going off." RP 687-9. Hernandez estimated that Appellant has shot twelve times that day RP 689 and that the other shooters had shot about six or seven times each. RP 679.

Hernandez testified that Anguiano apparently emptied the clip in his gun, expending all of his bullets, expressly stating on cross-examination "...I heard the gun lock when its' empty." RP 677-8. As they were driving away Anguiano stuck his hand out the window and shot two times RP 854-5 and continued to shoot as the car was driving away. Anguiano's own testimony was that he heard another shot, but he was not sure where it came from, and yet he again shot at the house. RP 855. "I heard another shot. I didn't know where it was coming, if it was coming from the house or what. I know I heard another shot. At this point I shot again out the window when we were leaving. I shot again out the window. That's when we left." RP 856. Anguiano admitted that he still had his gun in the car and that he had run out of ammo. RP 857.

The trial court addressed this issue:

First off, the target is a residence. It's a place where people live. There's more than one car in the driveway. Shots were fired not only towards where Mr. Burkybile was located but also other portions of the residence were targeted as well. It would seem reasonable that a person is going to -- a shooter is going to have strong suspicion or certainly some inherent knowledge that there are or may be other people in the residence besides Mr. Burkybile.

Like I said, shots were fired at other portions of the residence, not just at the door where Mr. Burkybile was located. RP 830.

As the State said in closing;

This house, they made Swiss cheese of this house....The very fact that all three of these people are taking out guns and firing away under these circumstances, what can be more extreme? What can create more indifference to human life than he and his accomplices did?

D. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals opinion thoroughly addressed each and every allegation and after a full and complete review of the record correctly upheld Anguiano's convictions. This case does not merit further review by this court under RAP 13.4(b)